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1  An additional argument regarding why the Court should deny the
Defendants’ Motion is currently being reviewed by the United States Department
of Justice, Office of International Affairs (OIA), and the United States Department
of State (State Department), in Washington, D.C.  If approval is obtained from
OIA and the State Department, the United States will supplement this Response in
order to incorporate the argument.  The United States has notified counsel for
Defendant Dixie Ellen Randock of the foregoing.  Counsel for Defendant Dixie
Ellen Randock does not object to the United States filing a supplemental response
setting forth that argument, provided it does not result in a delay of the January
hearing date on the Defendants’ motion.  
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Eastern District of Washington
George J.C.  Jacobs, III
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Post Office Box 1494
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Telephone:  (509) 353-2767

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Plaintiff,

v.

DIXIE ELLEN RANDOCK,
STEVEN KARL RANDOCK, SR.,
HEIDI KAE LORHAN, and
ROBERTA LYNN MARKISHTUM, 

Defendants.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

CR-05-180-LRS-1
CR-05-180-LRS-2
CR-05-180-LRS-6
CR-05-180-LRS-7
     
United States’ Response in
Opposition to Defendant’s
Motion for an Order Directing the
Taking of Foreign Depositions of
Five Witnesses and Preserve
Testimony       

Plaintiff United States of America, by and through James A. McDevitt,

United States Attorney for the Eastern District of Washington, and George J.C.

Jacobs, III, Assistant United States Attorney for the Eastern District of

Washington, hereby files its Response in Opposition to Defendants’ Motion for an

Order Directing the Taking of Foreign Depositions of Five Witnesses and Preserve

Testimony.1  For the reasons set forth below, the Defendants’ Motion should be

denied.
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On October 5, 2005, a Federal Grand Jury in the Eastern District of

Washington returned an Indictment against Dixie Ellen Randock, Steven Karl

Randock, Sr., Heidi Kae Lorhan, Roberta Lynn Markishtum, Amy Leann Hensley,

Richard John Novak, Blake Alan Carlson, and Kenneth Wade Pearson.  Count 1

charges that from a date unknown to the Grand Jury, but beginning at least by on

or about August 4, 1999, and continuing thereafter up to and including August 11,

2005, within the Eastern District of Washington and elsewhere, these Defendants

did knowingly combine, conspire, confederate, agree with each other, and with

others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, to commit an offense against the

United States, to wit:  mail fraud, in violation of Title 18, United States Code,

Section 1341; and wire fraud, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section

1343.  In Count 2, Defendants Dixie Ellen Randock and Steven Karl Randock , Sr.,

are charged with Conspiracy to Launder Monetary Instruments, in violation of

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(1)(A)(I), (B)(I), and 1957(a), and

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(2)(A) and (B)(I);  all in violation of

Title 18 United States Code, Section 1957(h).  Count 3 charges Criminal

Forfeiture.  Four Defendants have pleaded guilty and are awaiting sentencing.  The

remaining Defendants are scheduled to begin trial in June, 2008.

    

A.  Fed.R.Crim.P. 15

Rule 15(a) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure provides, in relevant

part:

Whenever due to exceptional circumstances of the case it
is in the interest of justice that the testimony of the
prospective witness of a party be taken and preserved for
use at trial, the court may upon motion of such party and
notice to the parties order that the testimony of such
witness be taken by deposition and that any designated
book, paper, document, record, recording, or other
material not privileged be produced at the same time and
place . . .
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Fed.R.Crim.P. 15(a) (emphasis added).  The party seeking the depositions must

provide reasonable written notice of the time and place of the deposition. 

Fed.R.Crim.P. 15(b).  Rule 15(e) further provides:

At the trial . . . a part or all of a deposition, so far as
otherwise admissible under the rules of evidence, may be
used as substantive evidence if the witness is unavailable,
as unavailability is defined in Rule 804(a) of the Federal
Rules of Evidence, or the witness gives testimony at the
trial, or hearing inconsistent with that witness deposition.

Although depositions “are disfavored in criminal cases,” United States v.

Drogoul, 1 F.3d 1546, 1551 (11th Cir. 1993), Rule 15(a) provides that courts may

order such depositions in “exceptional circumstances,” and “in the interest of

justice” to preserve testimony for use at trial.  Their “only authorized purpose is to

preserve evidence, not to afford discovery.”  See, Simon v. United States, 644 F.2d

490, 498 n. 12 (5th Cir. 1981).  The burden is on the party seeking Rule 15

depositions to establish that exceptional circumstances exist to justify the

procedure.  See, United States v. Drogoul, 1 F.3d 1546, 1552 (11th Cir. 1993). 

Whether to grant or deny a motion to depose a foreign witness in a criminal trial is

discretionary, and the district court considers the particular circumstances of each

case to determine whether the “exceptional circumstances” requirement has been

satisfied.  See, United States v. Omene, 143 F.3d 1167, 1169 (9th Cir. 1998).

While the Rule neither defines nor elucidates the “exceptional

circumstances” and “interest of justice” standards, some guidance in this regard is

found in the Advisory Committee’s note, which states that a court may permit a

party to depose a witness in a criminal case if:  (a) the witness will be unavailable

to testify at trial;  (b) the testimony is material to the moving party’s case; and (c)

the testimony is necessary to avoid an injustice.  Rule 15(a), Fed.R.Crim.P.

Advisory Committee’s note:  see also, United States v. Johnson, 752 F.2d 206, 209
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(6th Cir. 1985) (relying on advisory committee’s note in determining whether

exceptional circumstances exist).

 

B.  Defendants’ Motion Should Be Denied Because They Have        
      Not Satisfied the “Unavailability” Prong Of Rule 15(a)  

With respect to unavailability, the mere fact that a purported witness resides

in a foreign country does not demonstrate his or her “unavailability” for Rule 15

purposes.  See, United States v. Hernandez-Escarsega, 886 F.2d 1560 (9th Cir.

1989) (unavailability requirement not satisfied for fugitive witness residing in

Mexico);  United States v. Zuno-Arce, 44 F.3d 1420 (9th Cir. 1995) (unavailability

requirement not satisfied for witnesses residing in Mexico);  United States v.

Ismaili, 828 F.2d 153, 160 (3d Cir. 1987) (unavailability requirement not satisfied

for witness residing in Morocco);  United States v. Campbell, 1998 WL 564376 at

*1 (E.D.N.Y. June 30, 1998) (residence outside the United States alone insufficient

to show unavailability);  United States v. Wag-Aero, 888 F.Supp 101, 102-103

(E.D. Wis. 1995) (denying Rule 15 motion where “only support for . . . assertion of

unavailability is . . . claim that prospective deponents are not subject to the

subpoena power of this court”).  Accordingly, the moving party must make some

showing that the foreign-based witness is truly unable or unwilling to come to the

United States to testify, and that the moving party has made a “good faith effort to

produce the person to testify at trial.”  See, United States v. Johnpoll, 739 F.2d 702,

709 (2d Cir. 1984);  Wag-Aero, 888 F.Supp. at 103 (denying depositions where

government failed to describe efforts to obtain deponents’ presence at trial).  The

moving party may demonstrate the probable unavailability of a prospective

deponent “through affidavits or otherwise.”   See, Alvarez, 837 F.2d at 1029.  That

showing need not be conclusive before a deposition can be taken.  See, United

States v. Sines, 761 F.2d 1434, 1439 (9th Cir. 1995).  “A potential witness is

unavailable for purposes of Rule 15(a), however, whenever a substantial likelihood
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exists that the proposed deponent will not testify at trial.”  See, Drogoul, 1 F.3d at

1553.

None of the prospective Liberian witnesses which the Defendants seek to

depose have stated that they would not come to the United States to testify.  None

have stated they would be unable to procure a visa or passport in order to travel to

the United States.  None have stated that they are financially unable to travel to the

United States.  Also, the Defendants have failed to procure affidavits of any of the

prospective witnesses themselves indicating that they are unwilling to travel to the

United States for the Defendant’s trial.  In fact, the contrary is true, as they “have

indicated a willingness to appear as witnesses for trial.”  See, Declaration of

Phillip Wetzel in Support of Motion for Depositions, p. 2.  One witness, Mr.

Dunbar, was “very emphatic that he wants to testify either in the U.S. or via

deposition in order to clear his name.”  See, Defense Investigator Memorandum, p.

10.  Given this record, there is insufficient evidence for the Court to find that a

“substantial likelihood exists” that the proposed Liberian deponents will not testify

at trial.

The Defendants also seek an order to depose on the basis that “[t]ravel from

Liberia to Spokane is burdensome.”  See, Memorandum in Support of Motion for

Depositions, p. 3.  Rule 15 makes no exception for convenience and efficiency. 

See, United States v. Rich, 580 F.2d 929, 933-34 (9th Cir. 1978); United States v.

Cutler, 806 F.2d 933, 935-36 (9th Cir. 1986).  Accordingly, the Defendants have

failed to demonstrate exceptional circumstances justifying the taking of foreign

depositions.  The Defendants have not established that the individuals are

“unavailable.”  This failure is a sufficient basis alone for the Court to deny the

Defendants’ Motion. 
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C.  Defendants’ Motion Should Be Denied Because They Have        
      Not Satisfied the Materiality Prong of Rule 15

The Defendants have not established how the testimony of Evelyn Kandakai

is material.  An assertion of materiality requires supporting facts.  See, United

States v. Brunnell, 201 F.Supp.2d 169, 171 (D. Me. 2002).  Here, the Defendants

can make no such assertion and present no supporting facts because they have not

yet located, much less interviewed, Evelyn Kandakai to discover what the

testimony would be.  The purpose of depositions in a criminal case is to preserve

evidence, not to afford discovery.  See, United States v. Cutler, 806 F.2d 933, 935-

936 (9th Cir. 1986).

Based upon the Defendants’ proffer, the evidence is not material.  It is

irrelevant, inadmissible, cumulative, corroborative, and not essential.  Absent

materiality, Rule 15(a) cannot apply.  See, United States v. Habjeh, 284 F.Supp.

380, 384 (E.D. VA. 2003).  Because neither the Rule nor the Advisory

Committee’s note defines materiality, courts have assessed this prong of the

“exceptional circumstances” test in a variety of ways, asking, for example, whether

the testimony is essential or critical to the defense, exculpatory or capable of

negating an element of the government’s case, or is instead cumulative or merely

corroborative.  See, e.g., Habjeh, 284 F.Supp. At 384 (and cases cited therein). 

“Moreover, there is typically some showing, beyond ‘unsubstantiated speculation’

that the evidence exculpates the defendant.”  See, United States v. Kelley, 36 F.3d

1118, 1125 (D.C. Cir. 1994) citing Guam v. Ngirangas, 806 F.2d 895, 897 (9th Cir.

1986); United States v. Wilson, 601 F.2d 95, 97 (3d Cir. 1979).  One court has

written that materiality is shown if the prospective deponent’s testimony goes to

the “very heart” of the government’s allegations and core of the Indictment.  See,

Drogoul, 1 F.3d at 1554.  The moving party must demonstrate that the testimony is

necessary to prevent an “injustice.”  See, United States v. Alvarez, 837 F.2d 1024,

1029 (11th Cir. 1989).  Thus, district courts have denied Rule 15 motions where
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2  In Hajbeh, the defendant also argued that even though the foreign witness’
testimony is cumulative or corroborative of evidence that the defendant himself
can offer, he should nonetheless be allowed to depose the witness under Rule 15(a)
because otherwise the defendant will be compelled to testify in violation of his
Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination.  See, 284 F.Supp.2d at 385. 
The court rejected this argument, explaining “[w]hile the denial of defendant’s
Rule 15(a) motion may certainly serve to encourage defendant to testify, he
remains free to choose not to do so.  Therefore, he is not, in any relevant sense,
‘compelled’ to testify because his ‘free will [is not] overborne.’  Put differently, an
incentive to testify does not amount to compulsion.”  See, 284 F.Supp.2d at 385-
386.   
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testimony sought “could not negate the crux of the . . . indictment.”  See, United

States v. Ismaili, 828 F.2d 153, 161 (3d Cir. 1987).  The burden is upon the moving

defendant to show that the testimony “exculpates the defendant.”  See, United

States v. Kelley, 36 F.3d 1118, 1125 (D.C. Cir. 1994) (denial of depositions not an

abuse of discretion where anticipated testimony, although relevant, was not

exculpatory).  The materiality requirement is not satisfied where the anticipated

evidence would be cumulative or inadmissible, see, e.g., United States v.

Hernandez-Escarega, 886 F.2d 1560, 1570 (9th Cir. 1989) (a court does not abuse

its discretion where it denies a motion under Rule 15(a) because “the evidence [is]

in some respects irrelevant and in others cumulative and possibly inadmissible as 

hearsay”); Ismaili, 828 F.2d at 161 (hearsay).

In United States v. Hajbeh, 284 F.Supp.2d 380, 385 (E.D.VA 2003), a

district court denied the defendant’s Rule 15 motion because the proffered

testimony was merely cumulative and corroborative of testimony that the

defendant himself is able to offer and hence not material.2  Rule 15 motions also

have been denied where there is overwhelming evidence of guilt.  See, United

States v. Bello, 532 F.2d 422, 423 (5th Cir. 1976) (citing the overwhelming

evidence of guilt offered by the prosecution as a reason for declining to allow a

Rule 15(a) deposition).
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1.  St. Regis University Manufactured Counterfeit Degrees in the   
     Names of Legitimate Universities in the United States

The Defendants argue that the proffered evidence is “relevant to the

Defendants’ good faith and intent to deceive.”  Assuming arguendo that the

Defendants obtained an “accreditation” from Liberian officials for St. Regis

University, that evidence does not negate their intent to deceive because the

Defendants manufactured counterfeit degrees in the names of legitimate

universities operating in the United States.  None of the witnesses that the

Defendants want to depose have stated that a Liberian “accreditation” permitted the

Defendants to manufacture degrees in the names of legitimate American

universities.  For example, the Defendants manufactured a counterfeit Bachelor of

Science in Criminal Justice degree and an academic transcript in the name of the

University of Maryland.  See, Government Exhibit (GE) 1, attached hereto, and

hereby incorporated herein.  The Defendants manufactured a Bachelor of Business

Administration “degree” and academic transcript in the name of the University of

Tennessee.  See, GE 2, attached hereto, and hereby incorporated herein.  The

Defendants also manufactured counterfeit Bachelor of Science in Criminal Justice

and Bachelor of Arts degrees and transcripts in the name of Texas A&M

University.  See, GE 3, attached hereto, and hereby incorporated herein.  The

counterfeit University of Tennessee and Texas A&M University “degrees” that the

Defendants manufactured bear the signatures of two officials from each university: 

“Patrick O’Brien” and “James Cooper.”  The name “Patrick O’Brien” appears on

the left-hand corner of the degrees as the “Chairperson, Board of Trustees” of the

University of Tennessee and Texas A&M University.  The name “James Cooper”

appears on the lower right-hand corner of the degrees as the “President & Chief

Provost” for both universities.  A cooperating individual has stated that  “Patrick

O’Brien” and “James Cooper” were two of the eleven alias names used by

Defendant Dixie Ellen Randock.  See, GE 4, attached hereto, and hereby
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incorporated herein.  The Defendants also manufactured a Doctor of Philosophy

(PhD) degree and academic transcript in the name of George Washington

University in Washington, D.C.  See, GE 5, attached hereto, and hereby

incorporated herein.  Even if the Defendants had received, or thought they had

received, an “accreditation” for St. Regis University from the Republic of Liberia,

the Defendants did not have the authority to grant University of Maryland,

University of Tennessee, Texas A&M University, or George Washington

University degrees or transcripts.  The Defendants also manufactured a Bachelor of

Sciences in Construction Management degree in the name of Northrup University. 

See, GE 6, attached hereto, and hereby incorporated herein.  Regardless of the

“accreditation” status, such “accreditation” did not authorize the use of alias or

fictitious names on documents which the Defendants sold to the public.

 

2.  Defendants Manufactured Degrees Using Names of                      
     Fictitious University Officials 

Whatever “accreditation” the Defendants had, or believed they had, for St.

Regis University also does not negate their intent to deceive because the

Defendants routinely manufactured degrees, transcripts and other academic

products that bore the signatures of fictitious university officials.  In other words,

even if the documents were issued under the name of an “accredited” school, the

documents are still false because they bore the signature of fictitious “school”

officials.  For example, the Defendants manufactured a Doctor of Philosophy

(PhD) in Clinical Hypnotherapy degree in the name of St. Regis University.  See,

GE 7, attached hereto, and hereby incorporated herein.  The degree lists one of

Defendant Dixie Ellen Randock’s alias names, “Patrick O’Brien” as the “Dean of

Studies.”  See, GE 7.  The St. Regis University transcript that was manufactured

for that degree lists “Rick Novak” as the “Registrar of Official Academic

Records.”  Another product that the Defendants manufactured lists “Jayne W.



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Response in Opposition to Defendants’ Motion to Take Foreign Depositions - 10
P71211GJ.GJA.wpd

Johnson” as the “Chairman of the Official Archive Registry.”  According to a

cooperating co-defendant, “Jayne W. Johnson” is another alias name used by

Defendant Dixie Ellen Randock.  See, GE 4.  The Defendants also manufactured a

Bachelor of Science in Biomedical Laboratory Science degree in the name of Saint

Lourdes University.  See, GE 8, attached hereto, and hereby incorporated herein. 

The degree bears the signature of two fictitious university officials:  “Patrick

O’Brien” as the “Chairperson, Board of Trustees,” and “Stephen Frendock” as the

“President & Chief Provost.”  When interviewed on August 11, 2005, by the

United States Secret Service, Defendant Steven Karl Randock, Sr., stated that he

used the alias name “Fr. Frendock.”  See, GE 9, attached hereto, and hereby

incorporated herein.  The Saint Lourdes University transcript that the Defendants

manufactured also represents that it was issued under the authority of “Elizabeth

Worthington” as the “Registrar of Official Academic Records.”  See, GE 8.  A

cooperating co-Defendant has stated that this was an alias name that she used.  See,

GE 4.  To create the appearance of legitimacy, also enclosed in the vinyl degree

jacket was an official-looking black and gold seal bearing the following entry, “A

Recognized School of Excellence, Blue Ribbon Schools Program, U.S. Department

of Education.”  See, GE 8.

3.  Transcripts Were Fabricated by Googling Courses from             
     Real Universities and Copying That Information

Whatever “accreditation” St. Regis University may or may not have had, it

did not authorize the fabrication of academic transcripts.  According to a

cooperating co-Defendant, the cooperating co-Defendant would simply “make up”

transcripts for consumers by “cutting and pasting” from transcripts that were on a

computer disk which Defendant Dixie Ellen Randock had given to her/him to use,

or “by doing an internet search, finding a curriculum at a real university, and

pasting” that information into the fabricated St. Regis University transcript.  See,
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GE 4;  see also GE 22, attached hereto, and hereby incorporated herein, at 112804-

805.

4.  Defendant Dixie Ellen Randock Tells Defendant Roberta            
     Markishtum That There Really Were No “Schools” in Liberia 

On August 23, 2005, Federal and State investigators interviewed Defendant

Markishtum after she signed a written waiver of her rights and agreed to answer

their questions.  During the interview, Defendant Markishtum stated that

Defendant Dixie Ellen Randock instructed her to represent to clients that the

“schools” have a physical presence in West Africa.  See, GE 10, attached hereto,

and hereby incorporated herein, at 107320.  At the same time, Defendant Dixie

Ellen Randock told Defendant Markishtum that there really were no “schools” in

Liberia.  See, GE 10, at 107320, 107324-326.  Defendant Markishtum stated that

many fictitious signatures were used on the degrees that the Defendants

manufactured.  See, GE 10, at 107316.  Defendant Markishtum told investigators

that even though she was working in Post Falls, Idaho, Defendant Dixie Ellen

Randock instructed her to tell people that she was physically located in

Washington, D.C., or Wilmington, Delaware, the locations of two mail drops that

the Defendants used.  See, GE 10, at 107311 and 107318.  Defendant Markishtum

also told investigators that Defendant Dixie Ellen Randock instructed her to send

no degrees to consumers in the States of Washington, Idaho, Illinois, Oregon, or

Georgia.  See, GE 10, at 107319.

Count 1 of the Indictment alleges that the conspiracy to commit wire/mail

fraud began at a date unknown, but at least by on or about August 4, 1999.  None

of the Exhibits to the Defendants’ Motion indicate that St. Regis University was

“accredited” in 1999, 2000, 2001, or 2002, even though degrees were being 

manufactured during those years.  Exhibit 1 to the Defendants’ Motion includes

multiple copies of foreign records that have not been certified as genuine under 18
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U.S.C. §§ 3491, 3492, 3493, and 3494.  For example, the document entitled

“Republic of Liberia, National Commission For Higher Education, Monrovia,

Liberia Certificate of Recognition & Accreditation To Operate Higher Education

Institution In The Republic of Liberia” (see, Defense Exhibit 1, at 360646),

appears to be an unauthenticated foreign document.  The document appears to bear

a seal in the lower left-hand corner.  The photocopied document reads,

This is to certify that SAINT REGIS UNIVERSITY, Operated by the
National board of education, Inc. An International Business
Corporation with branch campuses in Liberia, has met the criteria set
forth by the National Commission of Higher Education to operate an
institution of higher learning in the Republic of Liberia, is hereby
granted this accreditation.  Valid for a period of five years as of date
of issuance.

The document bears a date of October 16, 2003, and the unauthenticated signature

of an individual on the Executive Director line.  See, Defense Exhibit 1, at 360646. 

None of the witnesses that the defense investigator interviewed stated that they

signed this document.  Moreover, based on an e-mail, it appears that the document

may have been generated by Defendant Dixie Ellen Randock.  See, GE 11,

attached hereto, and hereby incorporated herein.  The United States would further

note that on April 28, 2003, A+ Institute ordered a rubber stamp from Northwest

Business Stamp.  The rubber stamp had the following entries on it, “Accelerated

Education, Minister of Education, Republic of Liberia, for Accelerated

Development.”  See, GE 11-A, attached hereto, and hereby incorporated herein. 

5.  Defendants’ Proffer in Rule 15(a) Motion Does Not Negate         
     False Claim That St. Regis University Was Chartered by the      
     National Legislature in 1984

The Defendants’ claim that the testimony of Isaac Roland is necessary

because it establishes the Defendants’ good faith and lack of intent to deceive. 

Actually, the contrary is true.  The Defendants represented that St. Regis
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University was officially chartered in 1984.  See, GE 12, attached hereto, and

hereby incorporated herein.  The same representation was made in an August 1,

2003 e-mail sent out under the alias name of “Thomas Carper, PhD, EdD.”  See,

GE 13, attached hereto, and hereby incorporated herein.  According to a February

1, 2006 letter that the United States Secret Service received from an individual,

 

The St. Regis University claimed to have been chartered by the
National Legislature in 1984.  However, before such charter can be
granted to any institution in Liberia, the National Commission on
Higher Education must recommend such institution to the National
Legislature but the Commission came into existence in 1989. . . .
From all indications, the St. Regis University established in 1984,
cannot exist before the National Commission which was established in
1989.  Therefore, the claim by St. Regis University for its legitimate
establishment by the National Legislature in 1984 is incorrect. 
Equally so it is impossible for St. Regis to be established before the
National Commission.

See, GE 14, attached hereto, and hereby incorporated herein (emphasis added). 

None of the exhibits in support of the Defendants’ Motion negates this.

“The court need not, at the cost of time and money, engage in an act of

futility by authorizing depositions that clearly will be inadmissible at trial.”  See,

United States v. Drogoul, 1 F.3d 1546, 1555 (11th Cir. 1993).  If the Court issues

an Order granting the taking of depositions, the United States estimates that it

could cost the United States between $25,176 and $39,876 for three United States

Government officials to travel to Liberia for a fifteen-day period.  Much of the

evidence is inadmissible hearsay.  Much of it is not relevant, and therefore is

excludable.  Much of it is not based upon the witness’ personal knowledge.      

6.  Another Factor That the Court May Consider Is Whether          
     There Is Strong Evidence of Guilt

In denying a Rule 15 motion, the Court may consider whether there is strong

evidence of guilt.  See, United States v. Bello, 532 F.2d 422 (5th Cir. 1976).  Four

Defendants have entered pleas of guilty to Count 1 of the Indictment.  See, GEs 15
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through 18, attached hereto, and hereby incorporated herein.  Under the terms of

their Plea Agreements, these individuals have agreed to cooperate and testify

against the remaining Defendants.

Based upon information which a cooperating Defendant provided to the

Government during a free talk on December 12, 2005, he/she knew that the schools

operated by Defendant Dixie Ellen Randock were “diploma mills.”  See, GE 19,

attached hereto, and hereby incorporated herein.  This individual stated that when

he/she first started working for St. Regis University in March, 2002, he/she did not

know what a diploma mill was.  However, after he/she began working for

Defendant Dixie Ellen Randock, Defendant Dixie Ellen Randock would send

him/her many emails (often from individuals posting statements on a website

called degreeinfo.com) which “slammed” St. Regis University, and he/she was

quickly educated in what a diploma mill was.  This individual stated that the

degrees that the Defendants sold were not a real product, because he/she knew that

the people who purchased a Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) degree through Defendant

Dixie Ellen Randock’s schools did not earn that degree.  See, GE 19.  This

cooperating Defendant indicated that if he/she saw a doctor or an attorney who had

a St. Regis University degree that was purchased from the Defendants, he/she

would not want that person to treat or represent him/her because the person would

not be qualified.  See, GE 19.  This cooperating Defendant stated that none of the

degrees that the Defendants sold were valid or authentic.  See, GE 19.  This

cooperating Defendant stated that he/she became further suspect of the legitimacy

of Defendant Dixie Ellen Randock’s operation when Defendant Dixie Ellen

Randock  made up titles for him/her to use when communicating with third parties. 

See, GE 19.  This cooperating Defendant recalled seeing his/her name and another

Defendant’s name listed as “professors” on the St. Regis University website. 

He/She told Defendant Dixie Ellen Randock to remove his/her name because

he/she did not have the credentials of a true professor, and it was false.  See, GE



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Response in Opposition to Defendants’ Motion to Take Foreign Depositions - 15
P71211GJ.GJA.wpd

19.  He/She also said that another individual’s name was advertised on the St.

Regis University website as being a professor who had a PhD.  This cooperating

Defendant said that in reality, the person listed did not have a PhD, the biography

about the person that appeared on the web page was false, and the person was the

manager of an internet café (however, the web page did not mention that).  See, GE

19.  This cooperating Defendant stated that he/she never saw Defendants Dixie

Ellen Randock or Steven Karl Randock, Sr.’s names advertised on the St. Regis

University website.  See, GE 19.  When this cooperating Defendant asked

Defendant Dixie Ellen Randock about this, she replied that they wanted to remain

anonymous on the St. Regis University website.  See, GE 19.  He/She also stated

that Defendant Dixie Ellen Randock used the fictitious name “Thomas Carper.” 

See, GE 19.

This cooperating Defendant stated that Defendant Heidi Lorhan and another

individual were “advisors” for St. Regis University.  He/She stated that none of the

“advisors” were college graduates, and that they used fictitious names when

dealing with the public.  See, GE 19.  According to this cooperating Defendant, a

prospective St. Regis University student would complete an on-line application

that would then be evaluated by a St. Regis University “advisor.”  Id.  He/She

stated that the advisors were not qualified to perform the evaluations.  Id.  He/She

stated that Defendant Dixie Ellen Randock asked him/her to be an advisor and to

evaluate applications that were sent in.  Id.  However, he/she declined. 

This cooperating Defendant stated that he/she has known Defendant Dixie

Ellen Randock since high school, and that Defendant Dixie Ellen Randock did not

attend college.  Id.  This cooperating Defendant stated that Dixie Ellen Randock

told him/her that she started St. Regis University because she saw it as a good way

to make money.  Id.  This cooperating Defendant stated that James Monroe

University and Robertstown University were also created by Defendant Dixie Ellen

Randock.  Id.
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This cooperating Defendant stated that Defendant Dixie Ellen Randock told

him/her that prior to her involvement with St. Regis University, she was involved

in obtaining “accreditations” from Italy, Dominica, and Russia.  Id.  According to

this cooperating Defendant, Defendant Dixie Ellen Randock told him/her that the

more accreditations you have, the better it is to do business.  Id.  This cooperating

Defendant stated that in June, 2002, Defendant Dixie Ellen Randock told him/her

that she wanted to get accreditation for St. Regis University, and she recommended

that he/she try to get it from Liberia.  See, GE 19.  This individual stated that at that

time, he/she did not fully understand how Defendant Dixie Ellen Randock’s

schools operated, and he/she asked her why Defendant Dixie Ellen Randock could

not obtain accreditation for St. Regis University from the United States.  Id. 

According to this individual, Defendant Dixie Ellen Randock indicated to him/her

that, for what “we” do, “you” cannot be accredited in the United States.  See, GE

19.  This individual stated that he/she and Defendant Dixie Ellen Randock 

discussed that the only way to get what they wanted (accreditation) from Liberia

was to “bribe” officials.  See, GE 19.  This individual stated that he/she discussed

with Defendant Dixie Ellen Randock who they needed to “bribe,” and what they

would get in return.  Id.  This cooperating Defendant also stated that Defendant

Dixie Ellen Randock created an entity called the National Board of Education

(NBOE) as the parent company of St. Regis University.  Id.  This individual stated

that Defendant Dixie Ellen Randock wanted to use NBOE to sell accreditations to

other on-line schools.  See, GE 19.  Further evidence of the Defendants’ guilt is

established by information provided by another cooperating Defendant.  See, e.g.,

GE 22.

The following e-mails, which are only a representative sample of the e-mails

that were obtained from the Defendants’ computers pursuant to search warrants,

are also indicative of the Defendants’ guilt.  In an e-mail dated September 20,

2003, Defendant Dixie Ellen Randock sent another cooperating Defendant the
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following instructions:  “. . . we all need to make our emails come from Africa or

somewhere but not Spokane.  The advisors too.”  See, GE 20, attached hereto, and

hereby incorporated herein.  In an e-mail dated November 29, 2001, Defendant

Dixie Ellen Randock instructed another cooperating Defendant to use the

“unreadable signature” of S[aint] R[egis] U[niversity]’s President” which she gave

to that cooperating Defendant.  See, GE 21, attached hereto, and hereby

incorporated herein.  Defendant Dixie Ellen Randock instructed a cooperating

Defendant not to print the St. Regis University president’s name “because there is

no name.”  See, GE 21. 

In an e-mail dated August 21, 2004, to her husband, Defendant Dixie Ellen

Randock admitted that she needed “to approach and accredit all of [person’s name

not redacted in original e-mail] ___’s mills,” and that “[h]e actually has [school

name not redacted in original] and [school name not redacted in original thru that

silly ADLP that I made for him years ago.”  See, GE 21.  In an e-mail dated May

27, 2003, and captioned, “I have a proposal for all the advisors,” Defendant Dixie

Ellen Randock, using the alias name and academic title “Thomas Carper, PhD, Ed

D” notified “Steve,” “Timothy,” “James,” Patrick,” “Advisor John,” and other

persons that she “got each of . . . [them] a PhD and/or Ed D from a Louisianan

school named American Coastline University backdated years ago when they were

a fully legal school.”  See, GE 21.  According to Defendant Dixie Ellen Randock,

she did this in connection with assisting two other “competitor universities” “put

together a faculty of professors/advisors.”  See, GE 21.  In an 

e-mail dated August 17, 2003, Defendant Dixie Ellen Randock instructed several

advisors to “call [a particular telephone number] as though you are looking for a

degree, ... ask loads of questions and take notes.”  See, GE 21.  Defendant Dixie

Ellen Randock estimated that her advisors “might make $1,000 a day doing this for

James Monroe U.”  Defendant Dixie Ellen Randock also tells her advisors that she

“will do massive spams” with their “j2 voice mail phone number[s].”  See, GE 21.
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In an e-mail string dated August 26, 2004, “Thomas Carper” notifies an

individual that:

As you may know, it seems to be very difficult to verify our
Accreditations with Embassies or Consulates in other countries (Like
UK, etc).  Hence, we request you to grant us with some diplomat
documents in the rank of Consul or Above in the name of [person’s
name not redacted in original] who is in India, and Steve Randock in
Washington State.  If we get these  two documents we will set up a
Consulate on our own for you and we will take care of these expenses. 
Then the consulates will be used as place[s] of verification of
accreditations and that will be helpful and useful for us.  You need not
spend anything to set up the consulate. We request you to authorize
the documents and we will do the rest for you.  We will take care of
all the expenses and I will pay you $2,000 for this service.

See, GE 21.  The individual replies, suggesting that an “amount of up to $25,000 to

$30,000 [be paid] at the Foreign Ministry” and that he “could serve . . . as . . . [she]

suggest[s].”  The individual writes that $2,500 is needed “for the three

universities,” that “[r]ight now the National Commission of Higher Education is

disclaiming [a]lot of schools or universities” and they need to “work fast.”  See,

GE 21.  “Thomas” replies, asking the individual where to send the $2,500, and

notifying him that he/she will “include an additional $500 for you to send these

[accreditations] to me and you may keep the difference.”  See, GE 21.  According

to an e-mail obtained from Defendant Dixie Ellen Randock’s laptop computer,

dated September 20, 2003, “There is no Thomas Carper.  I made him up . . . .”  See,

GE 23, attached hereto, and hereby incorporated herein.   

                     

D.  The Defendants’ Motion Should Be Denied Because They          
      Have Not Presented Sufficient Evidence to Establish That         
       the Individuals That the Defense Investigator Interviewed in    
      October, 2007, Were in Fact Those Individuals and Would Be   
     Available in Liberia to Be Deposed

The Defendants’ Motion should be denied because they have not presented

sufficient evidence to establish that the persons who identified themselves as being
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Isaac Roland, Prince Porte, Abdulah K. Dunbar, and Kabineh Ja’neh to the

Defense Investigator in Monrovia, Liberia, on October 22, 23, 25, and 30, 2007,

were in fact those individuals, and would be available in Liberia to be deposed.  In

United States v. Omene, 143 F.3d 1167 (9th Cir. 1998), the defendant sought to take

depositions of three witnesses in Nigeria.  In support of his Rule 15 motion to take

foreign depositions, the defendant attached a report from a defense investigator

detailing a conversation the investigator had with a person, Wilson.  The district

court denied the Rule 15 motion, finding that Omene had not presented sufficient

evidence to establish that the person who identified himself to the defense

investigator as being Wilson was in fact Wilson.  

The Defendants’ routinely used fictitious names and assumed false

identities.  The United States also notes that the Defense Investigator’s

Memorandum even contains information that an individual who is currently

employed at the Liberian Ministry of Education may have impersonated another

individual.  See, Investigator’s November 5, 2007 Memorandum, p. 7 (“During my

interview with xxxx, he told me that he believed that xxxx, who is still employed at

the MOE, impersonated xxxx.”).  The Memorandum supporting the Defendants’

Motion fails to state what, if any, steps were taken to ascertain and validate the

identities of the individuals which the Defense Investigator interviewed.  The

Defendants have not presented sufficient evidence to establish the identity of the

individuals which the Defense Investigator interviewed, nor a validation of those

identities.

The Motion should be denied because the Defendants have not presented

sufficient evidence that the witnesses (with the exception of Mr. Dunbar) are even

willing to be deposed, and are available to be deposed in Liberia.  Based upon the

Defense Investigator’s Memorandum, none of the witnesses (with the exception of

Mr. Dunbar) were asked if they would agree to be deposed.  Submitting to an

informal interview is one thing.  Submitting to a deposition is another thing.  The
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Defense Investigator’s Memorandum also fails to indicate whether any of the

individuals would even be available to be deposed.  In United States v. Zuno-Arce,

44 F.3d 1420 (9th Cir. 1995), this circuit affirmed the district court’s denial of a

Rule 15 foreign deposition because, inter alia, none of the witnesses volunteered to

testify at a deposition.  Similarly, none of the witnesses (with the exception of Mr.

Dunbar) which the Defendants interviewed have volunteered to testify at a

deposition in Liberia.

The Defendants’ Motion should be denied because the Defendants are using

Rule 15 as a means of discovery.  In United States v. Rich, 580 F.2d 929, 933-34

(9th Cir. 1978), cert. denied, 439 U.S. 935, this circuit held that Rule 15 depositions

“are not allowed merely for the purpose of discovery.”  In United States v. Cutler,

806 F.2d 933, 936 (9th Cir. 1986), this circuit affirmed the district court’s denial of

the defendant’s Rule 15 motion.  The district court had denied the motion because

the defendant sought the information for impeachment purposes.

E.  Defendants Have Not Complied with Laws and Regulations       
      Governing Evidence in a Foreign Country

When evidence is in a foreign country, it is necessary to observe not only

applicable state or federal rules, but also the laws and regulations of the foreign

country where the evidence is located.  Some countries view the taking of any form

of evidence, even voluntary depositions, as an infringement on their judicial

sovereignty.  The Defendants’ Motion should be denied because they have not

offered any evidence or information on whether Liberian laws or regulations would

allow or prohibit a sworn deposition.  According to the exhibits in support of

Defendants’ Motion, Kabineh Ja’neh is currently an Associate Supreme Court

Justice for the Republic of Liberia;  Isaac Roland is the former Director General,

National Commission of Higher Education, Ministry of Education, Republic of

Liberia;  Ambassador Prince Porte is the former Charge D’Affaires Ad Hoc,
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Liberian Embassy, Washington, D.C.;  Abdulah K. Dunbar is the former Chief of

Mission, Liberian Embassy, Washington, D.C.;  and Evelyn Kandakai is the former

Chairperson, National Commission of Higher Education, Ministry of Education,

Republic of Liberia.

The United States Attorney’s Office (USAO) for the Eastern District of

Washington has contacted an attorney at the United States Department of Justice,

Criminal Division, Office of International Affairs (OIA), who focuses on legal

issues and requests for judicial assistance with Liberia.  OIA advised the USAO 

that the defense must go through the process of submitting a letter rogatory from

this Court.  State Department guidelines for obtaining evidence abroad is attached

as GE 24, and hereby incorporated herein.  According to State Department

guidelines, a letter rogatory is a formal request from a court in one country to the

appropriate judicial authorities in another country requesting compulsion of

testimony or documentary or other evidence.  See, GE 24, at 7.

In short, this Court may and should deny the Defendants’ Motion on the sole

basis that Defendants are prohibited by United States law and foreign law from

deposing witnesses in Liberia on an order of this Court without proceeding through

the letter rogatory process. 

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Defendants’ Motion for an Order Directing

the Taking of Foreign Depositions of Five Witnesses and Preserve Testimony

should be denied.
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DATED December 19, 2007.

James A. McDevitt
United States Attorney

s/ George J.C. Jacobs, III

George J.C. Jacobs, III
Assistant United States Attorney

I hereby certify that on December 19, 2007, I electronically filed the

foregoing with the Clerk of the Court using the CM/ECF System which will send

notification of such filing to the following, and/or I hereby certify that I have

mailed by United States Postal Service the document to the following non-

CM/ECF participant(s):

Mr. Peter S. Schweda
Attorney at Law
2206 North Pines Road
Spokane, WA 99206

Mr. Phillip J. Wetzel
Attorney at Law
901 North Adams Street
Spokane, WA 99201

Mr. Richard D. Wall
Attorney at Law
423 West First Avenue, Suite 220
Spokane, WA 99201

Mr. Timothy D. Trageser
Attorney at Law
1427 W. Northwest Blvd.
Spokane, WA 99205

s/ George J.C. Jacobs, III
 

George J.C. Jacobs, III
Assistant United States Attorney


